Filibuster Reform is Coming— Here's How Seven Ideas for Change

By Mel Barnes, Norman Eisen, Jeff Mandell, and Norman Ornstein

B Governance Studies

Table of Contents

Introduction	3
I. History of the Evolving Filibuster	5
II. Proposals for Modern Filibuster Reform	10
Talk, talk, talk	10
Your move, minority	12
Ratcheting down	12
Full-majority press	13
A one-two punch	14
Debate freely	15
III. Democracy Reconciliation	16
Conclusion	20
About the Authors	22
Acknowledgments	24
References	25

Introduction

n the America of 2021, a seemingly unstoppable force has met an apparently immovable object. Across the nation, state officials are acting with brazen impunity in curtailing voting rights. At best nakedly partisan, and at worst openly racist, legislators are proposing and passing, and some governors are signing, statutes that will strip the ballot from millions, seize the power to overturn election outcomes those partisans don't like, and potentially tilt the political playing field for decades to come.¹ No wonder President Biden has declared it the "most significant test of our democracy since the Civil War."²

Federal legislation could prevent this by establishing reasonable best practices for voter registration and early voting, and by barring the worst of the provisions.³ But that is where the immovable object comes in. Despite majorities in both houses of Congress that have expressed support for voting rights legislation, the Senate filibuster stands in the way.⁴ Overcoming a filibuster requires "cloture," or a supermajority of 60 votes to proceed to debate and vote on a bill in the Senate.⁵ A preliminary test vote on a motion to proceed to one bill that would help address the voter suppression wave, S.1,

failed 50-50 on party lines.⁶ Vice President Harris was available to cast the decisive 51st vote on the bill—but because of the filibuster, the cloture threshold fell 10 votes short, and the Senate could not proceed to vote on or even debate the bill itself.⁷ Senate Majority Leader Chuck Schumer brought up S. 1 again on August 11, together with two pieces of companion legislation that focused on redistricting and campaign finance. All three bills were filibustered by the minority.

Despite majorities in both houses of Congress that have expressed support for voting rights legislation, the Senate filibuster stands in the way.

We do not believe that the unstoppable forces of voter suppression and election subversion are, alas, going anywhere. We only expect those forces to intensify. In their face, doing nothing is not viable. Or as Senator Joe Manchin (D-W.Va.) has said, "inaction is not an option."⁸ Senator Manchin has also been among those defending the filibuster as a vehicle for compromise.⁹ He has insisted that he will not eliminate it, but he has mused publicly and privately about how it might be modified.¹⁰

In this paper we assess a range of possible filibuster modifications. We believe the Senate will also consider these options as the pressure to do something to meet the crisis ratchets up. The history of the filibuster is the history of such changes, and so we begin with a survey of that history in Part I. In Part II, we catalog today's principal proposals for modification, enumerating their pros and cons. We include remedies such as reducing the number of senators needed to open debate in the face of a filibuster; obligating the objectors to be present with one of their number speaking at all times during a filibuster; and shifting the burden to them to muster the requisite number of votes required to maintain the filibuster whenever challenged, instead of requiring the 60 who wish to proceed to so vote.

In Part III, we advocate for one additional option that the authors have previously written about, and that has been getting some significant proponents of late. We term that approach "democracy reconciliation."¹¹ It is based upon the existing practice of budget reconciliation, which allows certain fiscal measures to have an up-or-down simple majority vote.¹² As we explain, we would craft a similar

Because the filibuster is a perpetual obstacle to reform, and because even if modified it is unlikely to be eliminated, we articulate the full range of reform options. exception for voting measures, allowing them a similar opportunity to be voted upon by a majority. Reconciliation operates on a key principle known as the Byrd Rule, named after the late West Virginia Senator Robert Byrd.¹³ Because the current fate of the filibuster swirls around his successor, Senator Manchin, one may refer to this hoped-for new compromise of democracy reconciliation as "the Byrd-Manchin" Rule.

We assess that the pressure to effectuate one or more of these filibuster reform proposals is building. As we explain below, influential figures inside and outside of Congress have renewed calls for a solution.¹⁴ It is hard to understand how the Senate will stand by and do nothing while our democracy is dismantled (and many senators' jobs threatened). Still, it remains to be seen whether any of the fixes we discuss will be undertaken. Because the filibuster is a perpetual obstacle to reform, and because even if modified it is unlikely to be eliminated, we articulate the full range of reform options. But first, we begin with the history of this controversial procedure.

I. History of the Evolving Filibuster

A midst talk about the Senate's illustrious tradition of "unlimited debate," the filibuster can seem to embody a time-honored pillar of American democracy, enshrined in the Constitution and necessary to the structural soundness of our government. The truth is that the filibuster as practiced today would be unrecognizable to the Framers of the Constitution, who considered and specifically rejected the idea of requiring more than a simple majority to advance legislation in Congress.¹⁵

James Madison, Alexander Hamilton, and their fellow Framers, who had experienced the challenges imposed by supermajority requirements under the Articles of Confederation, were eager to correct that mistake in constructing the Constitution. Frustration with the impasse a supermajority threshold too often created under the previous system led the Framers to reserve a requirement that more than a

The truth is that the filibuster as practiced today would be unrecognizable to the Framers of the Constitution.

simple majority agree to only the weightiest decisions.¹⁶ Those include overriding a presidential veto, impeaching an officer, ratifying a treaty, and amending the Constitution itself.¹⁷

This is not to say that the Framers were dismissive of arguments that had not yet attracted majority support. To the contrary, the rights of those in dissent were considered at length. The Senate rules were shaped to ensure that such voices were not only heard but also given sufficient opportunity to persuade colleagues—or, failing that, the voters themselves.¹⁸ Allowing a minority faction to exercise a veto over the wisdom of the majority, however, was considered antithetical to the core principles of the Constitution's design. As Alexander Hamilton wrote in *Federalist* No. 22, "to give a minority a negative upon the majority (which is always the case where more than a majority is requisite to a decision), is, in its tendency, to subject the sense of the greater number to that of the lesser."¹⁹ James Madison expanded upon the danger of giving the minority faction outsized power: "In all cases where justice or the general good might require new laws to be passed, or active measures to be pursued, the fundamental principle of free government would be reversed. It would be no longer the majority that would rule: the power would be transferred to the minority."²⁰

The idea that the Senate was designed to be a "cooling saucer" for legislation passed in haste out of the House of Representatives has a kernel of truth, but it has been distorted across time.²¹ The Framers chose other means to accomplish cooling legislative passions. Indeed, the very existence of a second chamber was a compromise accepted to prevent legislation from proceeding too quickly.²² Beyond that, the Senate was structured be slower to respond to political winds than the House by requiring both an older membership (at least 30 years old as opposed to 25), and responsibility to a broader constituency (the full state legislature, and later, an entire state, not just a local district).^{23 24} Staggered six-year terms also insulated senators from political winds, so that the passions of any given moment would settle before the body's membership could be meaningfully altered.²⁵

Equal representation in the Senate of every state was critiqued at the time as unduly favoring minority interests (even then, population differences across states were significant enough to concern the Framers, just as they continue to trouble modern observers).²⁶ But the understanding was that Senate representatives of half the states, if not half the American people, would be able to advance legislation, after thorough debate, on a simple majority vote. The prospect that a minority faction could indefinitely, even perpetually, block legislation supported by a majority would not only have been foreign to the Framers, but in direct opposition to their design.²⁷

How then, did the supermajority requirement come to be? The filibuster as we know it today is the result of decades of evolution—and at times devolution—of Senate procedure.

The story began with a suggestion by Aaron Burr. Attempting to tidy up the Senate rules in 1805, Burr suggested removing several unused procedural tools, including the motion for calling "the previous question."²⁸ At the time, the adoption of Burr's suggestion was unremarkable, as other tools existed to express that debate had passed the point of usefulness. Those tools, however, slowly fell by the wayside.²⁹

Decades after Burr brought about removal of the "previous question" rule, the consequences of his action were first felt. A number of eminent authorities point to 1837 as at least the first "incipient filibuster," waged in connection with the battle over expunging the controversial Senate censure of then-President Andrew Jackson.³⁰ Another early milestone came in 1841. Recognizing that his Senate colleagues had no formal mechanism for ending floor debate, South Carolina Democrat John C. Calhoun engaged in what might be called a proto-filibuster. Previewing a consistent theme underlying the filibuster's evolution, two main forces brought this procedural issue to the fore: an individual senator's desire for personal power combined with an effort to bolster white supremacy.³¹

Calhoun opposed the establishment of a national bank, which he saw as a threat to the economic power of the South and slavery.³² He convinced a band of Southern senators to take to the floor in succession for days, offering amendment after amendment to the bank bill.³³ Calhoun hoped to run out the clock to the Senate's summer recess, preventing the bill's passage until the following session.³⁴ Senators were outraged by this unprecedented obstruction, and in the end, the bill passed only slightly later

than expected, before the summer adjournment.³⁵ Calhoun would continue to employ this tactic in the following sessions, invoking the language of "minority rights" while advocating for Southern secession and opposing recognition of an antislavery territorial government in Oregon.³⁶ Other Southern senators joined him, anxious to wield power disproportionate to their faction's numbers.³⁷

Over the following years, senators attempted to end this obstructionist tactic through multiple reform proposals, but filibusters (or threats of filibusters) made procedural change difficult.³⁸ Efforts to reform the tools of delay were themselves filibustered. Finally, in 1917, the filibuster fever broke. Wisconsin Progressive Bob La Follette and his allies opposed U.S. intervention in World War I. La Follette coordinated a filibuster that blocked a vote on arming merchant ships.³⁹ In response, President Woodrow Wilson publicly demanded a procedure to force a Senate vote. A compromise was reached: Congress

agreed to adopt Rule XXII, known as "cloture," but with a steep supermajority threshold then set at two-thirds of senators present and voting.⁴⁰

Wilson's drive to (somewhat) limit obstruction was finally successful because it was tied to a mustpass policy: protecting national security on the brink of war. Procedure and policy have always been intertwined in the case of the filibuster. That is also revealed by reversals in the positions of leaders in both the Democratic and Republican caucuses in the Senate over the past decade as they switched from majority to minority status and back again.⁴¹ Extended speechmaking became a vital tool for obstructing the expansion of civil rights protections, delaying federal bans on poll taxes and lynching long past the time when they had the support of a majority of the public, even in the South.

But Wilson had not killed the filibuster so much as forced its reinvention. Resistance to Civil Rights Era legislation would breathe new life into the filibuster. Extended speechmaking became a vital tool for obstructing the expansion of civil rights protections, delaying federal bans on poll taxes and lynching long past the time when they had the support of a majority of the public, even in the South.⁴² Georgia Democrat Richard Russell picked up where Calhoun left off, creatively coordinating Senate delay and consolidating his own power in the process. Unable to completely block reforms, Russell and his Senate supporters delayed popular civil rights legislation for years with filibusters and threats to filibuster.⁴³ Strom Thurmond, perhaps the Senate's most famous segregationist, still holds the record for the longest filibuster in the institution's history: speaking against the Civil Rights Act of 1957 for 24 hours and 18 minutes. The bill passed less than two hours after he finished.⁴⁴

The distortion of the filibuster into a tool that could truly *prevent* passage of legislation, not simply delay it, occurred more recently, in the 1970s. Two key changes in Senate procedure brought this about, both of which were initially considered progressive reforms aimed at reducing gridlock.

First, in 1975, Senate Rule XXII was amended to lower the vote threshold needed for cloture in most instances⁴⁵ from two-thirds of senators present and voting to three-fifths of the full Senate. This lowered the necessary supermajority from as many as 67 senators to only 60. But it also freed obstruction-minded senators from having to come to the Senate floor to vote against cloture—by simply staying home, they could deny a cloture motion one of the 60 votes it needed to pass. The burden shifted from the minority to the majority.⁴⁶

Second, also in the 1970s, the Senate adopted a "two-track" process for scheduling business on the floor. While allowing the chamber to get more done, this new approach also ended the "talking filibuster" of the likes employed by Strom Thurmond. No longer did blocking a vote require a senator to hold the floor and speak continuously. Instead, any senator could merely indicate an intention to filibuster, and the Senate would proceed with other business while the clock ticked down to the cloture vote. Filibustering senators no longer need to engage in "debate"—some have even stooped to the level of reading from a phone book—to advance their aim of delaying Senate action.⁴⁷

These changes in the 1970s inverted the burden of the filibuster: Ever since Calhoun's innovation, the filibuster had always required active, even extraordinary, performance by the senator seeking delay; but now the objecting senator did not need to hold the floor, or even speak aloud, but merely signal their intention to obstruct. The result is that a majority in the Senate is no longer sufficient; legislation often cannot move forward in the Senate until a *super*majority of 60 senators votes for cloture.⁴⁸ A minority that opposes a bill need generally not even vote against the bill. That minority can block a vote on the legislation from occurring by triggering a procedural maneuver with minimal effort.⁴⁹ The result is diametrically opposed to the principled debate the framers sought to guarantee for minority factions.

Once the filibuster evolved to this level of obstruction, passing even the most essential legislation became difficult. Without a supermajority willing to reform or abolish the filibuster, exceptions to its reach became necessary. The Senate has created such exceptions through legislation, like the budget reconciliation process created in the 1970s and refined in the 80s and 90s.⁵⁰ It has created other exceptions via reinterpretations of the cloture rule: setting new precedents that exempted first executive and certain judicial nominations, and then were expanded to include nominations to the U.S. Supreme Court.⁵¹ "Fast-track" procedures enacted through legislation, like budget reconciliation and the Congressional Review Act (CRA), were passed to set limits on debate for certain types of future legislation.⁵² Supermajority support was, in effect, required to pass the bills that originally established these fast-track pathways (they could have been filibustered although they were not). In contrast, the changes that lowered the threshold to approve executive nominations in 2013 and 2017 were accomplished with a simple majority vote in the Senate.53 These moves did not pass a new law or amend a formal Senate rule: Instead, they overruled precedent-previous interpretations of a Senate rule-to the same effect. Although overruling precedent in this manner has been referred to as "going nuclear," the long history of senators developing and altering the filibuster suggests that this description is overly dramatic.⁵⁴ The filibuster's history has been one of periodic evolution.

What is a shocking departure is the level of obstruction the modern Senate has achieved. Even after the end of the talking filibuster and the introduction of the two-track process made delay easier, the usage of the filibuster did not skyrocket until our current era of hyperpartisan polarization.⁵⁵ The Senate has too often stopped functioning as a great deliberative body—or functioning at all. From January 2001 to the end of 2006, a Democratic minority in the Senate used 201 filibusters to block bills with majority support. In a comparable six-year period, from January 2009 to the end of 2014, Republicans were in the minority, and used the filibuster 504 times—more than twice as often.⁵⁶

For the half-century between the advent of the cloture rule on the eve of World War I and the twotrack reform in 1970, the Senate averaged fewer than 3 filibusters per two-year Congress (measured by cloture motions filed, the best analogue publicly tracked by the Senate). By the George W. Bush Administration, that average was up to 85 per Congress.⁵⁷ Everything changed when the filibuster gained its most recent and innovative champion: Senator Mitch McConnell. McConnell served as the minority leader for most of the Obama Administration, and vowed early, clearly, and publicly that his number one goal was ensuring Obama had only one term as president.⁵⁸ McConnell would fail by that measure but succeed tremendously in delaying and blocking popular legislation supported by Obama, the majority of the Senate, and majorities of the American public. During Obama's presidency, the average number of filibusters (cloture motions filed) per Congress shot up to 158—nearly double the previously unheard-of record during the term of his immediate predecessor.⁵⁹ Correspondingly, fewer bills on average were passed as filibuster numbers increased: From 1950–1990, over 1,000 bills were passed

by the Senate each Congress; between 2009 and 2018, that average was less than 450.⁶⁰ The modern drop in Senate productivity is even more dramatic when examining how many bills passed excluding those passed via voice votes (generally indicative of a noncontroversial bill with broad support, such as a bill to rename a post office). Roll call votes accounted for only 52 pieces of legislation passed in the 2017–2018 Senate.⁶¹

Those who say the filibuster promotes legislative compromise are ignoring history.

McConnell's use of cloture and other procedural rules to stall any business in the Senate from his perch atop the minority did not engender an age of great debate. It did not incentivize negotiation among senators with different views. It merely prevented everything from civil rights advances to the most basic and necessary business of government from moving forward—all in silence and nearly invisible to most voters. Those who say the filibuster promotes legislative compromise are ignoring history. But to the extent that was ever true, it describes a bygone era that has nothing in common with our present politics and the modern Senate.

II. Proposals for Modern Filibuster Reform

N either the filibuster itself nor the extreme abuse of its current iteration is a new problem. The current iteration of the filibuster has been obstructing routine governance and a properly functioning Senate for a generation now. Numerous proposals have been developed to mitigate the filibuster's abuse without abandoning the concept entirely. This section recaps six of the leading contenders, before we discuss our preferred seventh approach in Section III.

Talk, talk, talk

Perhaps the most common—and most intuitive—reform proposal is to restore the filibuster to its popular understanding: A senator holding the floor and speaking at length to show his or her passionate objection to the policy under consideration. This is the "Mr. Smith Goes to Washington" version of the filibuster,⁶² most notably practiced by Senator Thurmond in a futile effort to delay the Civil Rights Act

The basic idea is to restore a talking filibuster so that a senator who wants to slow the progress of Senate business has to do something—and something difficult—to pursue that goal. of 1957⁶³—and more recently at the state legislative level by Texas State Senator Wendy Davis in a successful effort to forestall adoption of restrictions on abortion clinics in that jurisdiction.⁶⁴ The basic idea is to restore a talking filibuster so that a senator who wants to slow the progress of Senate business has to do something—and something difficult—to pursue that goal.⁶⁵

Senators Elizabeth Warren and Jeff Merkley have long championed this reform.⁶⁶ And Senator Joe Manchin recently signaled that he, too, would be

open to making the filibuster "a little more painful" to use by requiring a filibustering senator to "stand there and talk."⁶⁷ The underlying theory is that if, as filibuster proponents often proclaim, the purpose of the filibuster is to promote debate, then use it actually to debate, not to passively delay legislation in the background while the Senate proceeds with floor business on a separate track.⁶⁸

Proponents of the talking filibuster point to two significant benefits.⁶⁹ First, by making it harder for a senator to filibuster, this approach would likely decrease the filibuster's use. It would substantially realign the costs and benefits of any individual senator's decision to filibuster, thereby (at least in theory) deterring those filibusters that are frivolous and leading to a chamber in which senators filibuster only in those instances where they feel the issue is of significant importance.⁷⁰ Second, a talking filibuster would increase transparency, attaching the name, face, and speech of a filibustering senator to the delay imposed by their filibuster. This would (again, at least in theory) require filibustering senators to articulate clearly their reasons for filibustering a particular proposal, generating public attention-and scrutiny-to their position. Even if they are unable to persuade their colleagues, they may persuade-or at least inform-their voters. An additional point about this approach has received somewhat less attention: It would return the filibuster to a tool of temporary delay rather than one that functions as an effective veto. Recall that, until the combination of the cloture rule and the multitrack Senate floor schedule, a filibuster could forestall legislative progress for only the time that a senator or group of senators could hold the floor; once they yielded, the Senate could-and often did-proceed to adopt the bill under consideration. For example, Senator Thurmond held up the Civil Rights Act of 1957 for more than 24 hours (even though the bill had already been weakened to overcome filibuster threats). The bill passed less than two hours after his filibuster ended.⁷¹

But there are downsides to this proposal. First, the reality is that this reform might not quite be painful enough to truly weaken the filibuster as we know it: Senators coordinating a tag-team effort would be required to undertake some logistics, but not necessarily hold the floor for even an hour before yielding to the next team member to take up the tactic. On many bills this inconvenience may be enough, but it is unlikely to offer sufficient deterrence or obstacle when it comes to major policy priorities like democ-

An additional point about this approach has received somewhat less attention: It would return the filibuster to a tool of temporary delay rather than one that functions as an effective veto.

racy reform. But more consequentially, by restoring the Senate to a one-track schedule—a necessity if a filibuster would last only as long as its sponsor(s) could hold the floor—the talking filibuster would allow the Senate's minority faction to delay not only a particular proposal that one or more of its senators was willing to filibuster, but all other Senate business as well.⁷² A filibuster of a major bill, for example, might draw attention to and delay an infrastructure package, but every hour of filibuster would also prevent other essential Senate tasks—whether judicial nominations, treaty ratifications, budget resolutions, or other legislative proposals—from reaching the floor. A talking filibuster therefore moves from a tool to block one legislative proposal to one that delays all legislative business entirely. That is why one commentator has noted that "[t]he basic reason we don't have talking filibusters is to protect the majority party, not the minority party."⁷³

Your move, minority

An alternative would keep the filibuster in place and allow the Senate to continue with a multitrack floor schedule, while shifting the onus in any cloture vote to the minority faction. Instead of requiring 60 votes to end a filibuster, this approach, proposed by Norman Ornstein and Al Franken, would require 41 votes to keep the filibuster going.⁷⁴ Even though the filibuster itself would continue to be a theoretical exercise rather than a performative one on the Senate floor, a vote called by Senate majority to end the filibuster would succeed unless there were 41 votes to sustain the filibuster. And, since the minority faction would merely be voting to sustain the filibuster, the majority could call that vote repeatedly, across time. In any instance where the minority faction did not have at least 41 votes to keep the filibuster going, the cloture vote would succeed, and the Senate could proceed to a vote on the merits of the bill.

Instead of requiring 60 votes to end a filibuster, this approach would require 41 votes to keep the filibuster going.

Like the talking filibuster, this approach would "require a huge, sustained commitment" by those seeking to use the filibuster, rather than "the minor gesture" that is now sufficient to trigger a filibuster.⁷⁵ Moreover, it would not keep the Senate from proceeding with other business during a filibuster. Some critics complain that "the legislative filibuster would no longer be able to prevent the passage of a

bill; it could only slow it down, because octogenarian senators aren't capable of staying on the Senate floor round the clock for years on end, no matter the righteousness of the cause."⁷⁶ This is an odd criticism, given that for most of American history the filibuster, which itself was never an intentional feature of the Senate, could, at most, delay Senate passage of legislation. It is only recent changes that have turned the filibuster into "the easily deployed blockade it is today."⁷⁷ Others complain that this approach, even as part of a larger package of reform, amounts to nothing more than a tepid half-measure, ill-suited to "solve the problem of polarized parties, separation of powers, and lack of accountability."⁷⁸ The reality is that no feasible change in the broader filibuster rule—that is, no change that can likely command 50 votes now—will entirely "solve the problem." But changes like this can remove the use of the filibuster as a casual weapon of mass obstruction, one that is used on minor and major measures alike. This reform would sharply increase the burden on the minority, while shedding much more public light on the use of the filibuster as a weapon of routine legislative obstruction.

Ratcheting down

Another oft-discussed reform option is creating a diminishing threshold for cloture, so that each successive vote on an individual piece of legislation ratchets down the number of senators from whom consent is needed to move on to a final merits vote. This has the benefit of allowing for debate—or even

a silent signaling of opposition—that presents a real and tangible hurdle, but not the brick wall of current practice.⁷⁹ Establishing a window of debate required by each unsuccessful cloture vote, before another could be called, would slow down the process.⁸⁰ It would allow senators in the minority to indicate their strong opposition to legislation. It would require multiple votes before a bill could move forward, with as much attendant public scrutiny as the minority could muster. But it would also create a path forward. By setting the threshold for cloture at 60 senators on a first pass at ending debate, then 57 after a few more days of discussion, then 54, down to a simple 51-vote majority would return the filibuster to the

delay tactic (even one painful to the majority) that it was for most of the Senate's history.⁸¹ It would ensure the majority is truly committed to passing legislation, without maintaining the absolute veto power the minority now wields.⁸²

Senator Tom Harkin introduced a version of this reform repeatedly, but it never gained sufficient support in the Senate.⁸³ To Harkin's credit, he advanced this sliding-scale approach when he sat in both the minority and the majority, from the 1990s into the Obama administration.⁸⁴ Even two decades before

Creating a diminishing threshold for cloture has the benefit of allowing for debate—or even a silent signaling of opposition—that presents a real and tangible hurdle, but not the brick wall of current practice.

peak gridlock, Harkin was articulating how drastic the filibuster's evolution had been, and how at odds with the tool's purported purpose its modern iteration had become. "The filibusters aren't just against passage, they're also against process."⁸⁵ It was 2009 when Harkin said, "we've entered a new era here of outright stoppage at all costs," and even opponents of his reform proposal can't seriously argue the Senate's functionality has improved in the years since.⁸⁶

Full-majority press

If the sliding scale or ratcheting down approach sounds too complex or burdensome, here's a simpler idea: Set the threshold for cloture to match the number of senators in the majority in any given Congress.⁸⁷ It attaches the filibuster to a sliding scale, but a different, more consistent version. In a Senate with even the slightest one-party majority, cloture would require the full number of votes needed to actually pass a bill. For example, if the majority party held 53 seats, then, in order to invoke cloture, 53 votes would be needed. As recent intraparty Democratic wrangling over S.1 and infrastructure legislation have shown, unanimity is no simple matter. That point is also shown by the late Senator John McCain's now famous 2017 Senate vote that doomed Republican legislation attempting "skinny repeal" of the Affordable Care Act.

On this model, for every senator the majority party could not convince to toe the line, one vote from the minority would be needed. This would allow the majority to control the agenda and move legislation, but it would theoretically promote negotiation and compromise by requiring unanimity among the majority party (or a minority-party replacement for each holdout) to invoke cloture.⁸⁸ This is *de facto* how budget reconciliation works in the evenly divided Senate we see today. This reform has the benefit (perhaps undesirable to those of us outside the Senate) of preserving or even enhancing the leverage that any single senator can exercise—similar to the current and historical filibuster.

A one-two punch

A perhaps more obvious and simple approach than "ratcheting down" or a majority-party-numbered threshold is lowering the number of votes needed for cloture. Reduce, for example, the 60 votes currently required for cloture to 55. The result is still a supermajority requirement (55 percent of the Senate's membership), but one that further limits opportunities for minority rule (by requiring a larger minority for obstruction). In the current Senate, this may have little practical effect; in the long term it puts more negotiated compromises within reach.⁸⁹

A return to a present-and-voting standard can hardly be critiqued as a dramatic reform when it was in place for most of the filibuster's history. Alternatively, the current 60-vote threshold could be reconceptualized, not in terms of a strict number of votes, but as a percentage of those senators present and voting. Recall that until 1975, this was how the cloture threshold worked (though two-thirds, instead of three-fifths of the votes were needed at that time).⁹⁰ A return to a present-and-voting standard can hardly be critiqued as a dramatic reform when it was in place for most of the filibuster's

history. Moreover, the essential fairness of this reform is hard to deny: If the minority wants to block cloture, they at least need to make sure their members show up. The current filibuster rules allow senators to simply avoid votes that they might not wish to defend on the campaign trail or in the press; they can advance obstruction simply by absenting themselves, whereas members of the majority must be present to advance legislation over a threatened filibuster. A return to present-and-voting would force senators to put their position on record.⁹¹

Both of these paths have been advanced by Norman Ornstein as options that reform the filibuster while retaining the facets its proponents, Senator Manchin included, value.⁹² They retain minority input, as well as the minority's ability to slow down legislation and extend debate in the congressional "cooling saucer."

These two paths also lend themselves nicely to being implemented in combination: 55 percent of senators present and voting could be the new standard for closing debate. As a pair, this one-two punch of changes offers a requirement of commitment to a particular filibuster—not holding the floor in a Mr. Smith-style speech perhaps, but not going home to a comfortable bed either. At the same time, they mitigate, without ending, the minority's ability to exert control over the majority. A Senate with a thus-reformed filibuster (55 percent of those present-and-voting required for cloture) could, with time, look a lot more like the idealized body of great debate seen in movies or in politicians' memories.

Debate freely

One of the most troubling aspects of the filibuster's current iteration is its consistent use to foreclose not only substantive policy votes, but also procedural votes.⁹³ A more minor reform could restrict the filibuster to votes on substantive policy: That is, senatorial decisions on the merits of proposed legislation. This would eliminate the filibuster on motions to proceed,⁹⁴ which may currently be used to prevent even bringing a piece of legislation to the floor for debate. Under this reform, a simple majority could control the agenda enough to open substantive debate on a bill,⁹⁵ even if it could not ever force

a vote (60 votes would still be needed to invoke cloture and start the 30-hour countdown to an end of debate and a vote on the bill).

While this reform would cut the opportunities to filibuster a given bill in half, the failure of the majority to get 60 votes could still prevent a final vote on any piece of legislation. But proponents point out that, at least in theory, senators will find it more difficult to obstruct a vote on a bill after substantive debate Broader reform of the filibuster can easily include the removal of a higher threshold on the motion to proceed, taking away the "two bites of the apple" delay.

and news coverage of that debate. A more informed public might assign some level of shame and accountability to obstructionism they see as tied to a specific policy. Then again, senators should ask themselves how likely that sounds in our current partisan world, and if it is even worth bringing a reform this minor (and inconsequential) to a vote. At any rate, broader reform of the filibuster can easily include the removal of a higher threshold on the motion to proceed, taking away the "two bites of the apple" delay.

III. Democracy Reconciliation

A nother solution, that two authors of this paper have advocated elsewhere,⁹⁶ may be termed "democracy reconciliation"—the Senate creating an exception allowing for a majority vote to accomplish voting reforms, akin to the exception the Senate already allows for legislation known as budget reconciliation. This could be done through passing a statute allowing the exception, as was the case with the creation of reconciliation.⁹⁷ The problem of course is that the effort to pass such a statute in the Senate could itself be filibustered. Accordingly, a democracy exception would likely need to be accomplished through the "nuclear option," with a simple majority voting as a parliamentary matter to create such an exception, as we explain more fully below. The nuclear option to create a voting rights exception could be undertaken within and as part of a larger budget reconciliation process, or entirely independent of budget reconciliation, as we also explain.

Because the fast-track procedures of budget reconciliation as an exception to the filibuster were shaped by legendary West Virginia Senator Robert Byrd, its application is now limited by the "Byrd Rule." The Byrd Rule governs which provisions are subject to a 50-vote threshold and which are subject to a 60-vote threshold.⁹⁸ Our "democracy reconciliation" approach is in part inspired by the Byrd Rule, although as

Under this approach, voting-related measures would also be handled separately from the current cloture hurdles. we explain below, it could be accomplished without legislation and by a simple majority vote of 51 senators. Because it responds to concerns raised by current West Virginia Senator Joe Manchin, it could fairly be termed the Byrd-Manchin Rule if implemented. Under this approach, voting-related measures would also be handled separately from the current cloture hurdles.

This approach has gained renewed attention of late. Congressman James Clyburn, a close White House ally, has advanced "the idea of creating a carveout to the legislative filibuster in the Senate for legislation that applies to the Constitution."⁹⁹¹⁰⁰ Clyburn stated that Biden could "pick up the phone and tell [Sen.] Joe Manchin, 'Hey, we should do a carve out'...I don't care whether he does it in a microphone or on the telephone—just do it." Indeed, remarks by Senator Manchin himself have opened the door to this possibility. He has suggested in an interview that a reconciliation approach might be utilized if all efforts at bipartisanship fail with respect to S.1:

CHUCK TODD:

Well that sounds like, if the Republicans—then what you're saying is if Republicans continue to be unified in opposition and don't have an open mind, then you may change your mind?

SEN. JOE MANCHIN:

Well, I'm not going to change my mind on the filibuster. I'll change my mind if we need to go to a-to a reconciliation-

CHUCK TODD:

Gotcha.

SEN. JOE MANCHIN:

-to where we have to get something done. Once I know they have process into it. But I'm not going to go there until my Republican friends have the ability to have their say, also. And I'm hoping they'll get involved to the point to where we have 10 of them that will work with 50 of us, or 15 of them that will work with 45 of us. However, you know, we, I just-whatever it takes the majority-and it takes 60 when we are moving it through normal process-I'm for that. You said something about the founding fathers. Why did, why did Washington have bicameral? Why'd he want two bodies? One was supposed to be the cooling saucer, as you will. It takes deliberation, it takes listening to the minority, to make sure that the majority is getting it right.¹⁰¹

The senator has since suggested an openness to many of the other reforms discussed in this report.¹⁰² President Biden has also signaled openness to reforming the filibuster (though less than some) but has also stated that it is a matter for the Senate to decide.¹⁰³

Democracy reconciliation would remove the current supermajority requirement for those legislative proposals addressing election issues fundamental to the structure of American democracy, including voting rights, election procedures, and redistricting.¹⁰⁴ They are *the* core concerns of American democracy. Even more than our nation's annual budget, they are essential if America is to continue having a functional, legitimate, accepted government. Without democracy—the consent of the governed—the entire concept of government of the people, by the people, for the people falls to pieces.¹⁰⁵ These democracy issues, distinct from substantial debates on proper policy responses to a plethora of other pressing problems, are at the root of everything we do as a nation, and certainly everything that the Congress considers. If the framework underlying our self-governance cannot be maintained, even as it openly falls into disrepair and demands Congress's attention, then America itself becomes unstable.¹⁰⁶ It risks endangering our national experiment, the key role democracy plays worldwide, and the notion that democratic government is up to the challenges presented—here and abroad—by a new generation of would-be autocrats.¹⁰⁷

To meet the challenge and avoid catastrophic decline, the Senate must be able to address these narrow election-related issues of democracy on a majority basis. This approach acknowledges the existence of a constituency that accepts, or even strongly favors, the idea that a minority of senators, who can in theory represent less than 12 percent of the American people, can block any Senate action.¹⁰⁸ But democracy reconciliation also recognizes that the idea is incompatible with our core democratic values. Even the filibuster's fiercest supporters have to acknowledge the irony of allowing a minority faction to block proposals advanced to ensure the viability of majority rule within the constraints of the Constitution.

Democracy reconciliation can be achieved in two ways, neither of which would require changing statutory language or the text of Senate rules. The first would be to use the nuclear option if a minority in the Senate were filibustering election-related legislation. In that case, the majority leader would raise a point of order that cloture on election-related legislation be decided by a simple majority vote, which would be denied by the presiding officer (acting on advice of the parliamentarian). The leader would then appeal the ruling to the Senate, the vote on which, if done in reconsideration of a failed

Democracy reconciliation can be achieved in two ways, neither of which would require changing statutory language or the text of Senate rules. cloture vote, is not subject to debate. The Senate would then vote on the appeal. If the appeal were successful by simple majority, the new precedent of requiring only a simple majority vote for cloture would prevent the filibuster of voting legislation, such as S. 1.¹⁰⁹ A majority vote deeming the filibuster inapplicable to S. 1 would create the mechanism of democracy reconciliation and would establish it as a narrow exception, not a wholesale change, to the filibuster.¹¹⁰

Alternatively, this could be accomplished within reconciliation itself. Election-related provisions could be offered as part of a budget reconciliation bill, and if challenged under the Byrd Rule, the presiding officer would rule the provisions are allowable, disregarding the advice of the parliamentarian. That ruling would presumably be appealed by the minority, but the appeal could be tabled by a simple majority vote, thus setting a new precedent—that election-related legislation can be advanced using the fast-track procedures afforded to budget bills. This has the advantage of not changing precedent on the filibuster, so that Senator Manchin and his allies would keep their word on not blowing up an institution they find valuable.^{111,112}

The Senate has already acknowledged that core democracy issues are unlike any others that come before the Senate by excepting legislation addressing voting and elections from the "unfunded mandate rule."¹¹³ That rule prohibits federal legislation from imposing financial burdens on state and local governments without also providing aid to pay for the burdens Congress is creating. This is, generally speaking, a sound practice. But when Congress adopts new laws for elections, states and localities must comply, even when they bear the burden of finding the money to do so. This follows from the Senate's sensible recognition that elections are simply too important to be held hostage to disputes ancillary to the merits of the democracy reforms at issue. Voting rights laws protect the most core constitutional rights, and therefore states should and must prioritize implementation. By the same rationale, the practice of democracy should also be exempt from any use of the filibuster.

Democracy reconciliation is not without hypothetical risks. Once democracy reconciliation opens the door to majority rule of election-related issues, a future Congress with a narrow majority and a very different policy orientation may walk through that door. While this Congress will use democracy reconciliation to expand voting rights, a future Congress could instead rely on it as a tool to restrict voting rights. To give a couple of hypothetical examples, a stringent federal voter ID requirement or a nationwide prohibition on voting by mail would both fall within the ambit of democracy reconciliation and could pass the Senate on a majority vote. These risks should not be ignored, but neither should they be overstated.

A simple truth is relevant here: Americans are proud of our democracy. Free and fair elections are enduringly popular with the electorate. As our nation has expanded the franchise and access to the ballot over the decades, there has not been a successful effort at the congressional level to roll them back significantly. Congress has never reversed that trend. Elected officials are more comfortable blocking proposed policies than reversing such policies once enacted. Take the Civil Rights Act of 1964

and the Voting Rights Act of 1965 as examples: Notwithstanding the extensive efforts to frustrate and delay those bills through the filibuster and other tactics, opponents never repealed either piece of landmark legislation, even as the composition of the Senate changed across time. To the contrary, Congress repeatedly extended and expanded those landmark laws, with the only significant rollbacks resulting from misguided judicial decisions.¹¹⁴ This concern that democracy reconciliation could be used against voting rights may be more theoretical than practical. Even if it is not, that possibility must be weighed against the profound danger of taking no action in this moment.

This concern that democracy reconciliation could be used against voting rights may be more theoretical than practical. Even if it is not, that possibility must be weighed against the profound danger of taking no action in this moment.

Implementing democracy reconciliation alone would, of course, be vastly preferable to doing nothing, especially because it would make it possible to take action to counter the existential threat that now exists to the fundamentals of our democracy. But it must be accompanied by a broader change in the filibuster rule. There are other important priorities that should not continue to be subject to a 60-vote hurdle that puts no burden or accountability whatsoever on the minority. Doing both together—a carve-out for democracy issues and one or more of the changes we have enumerated to Rule XXII—is the best route to take.

Conclusion

D emocracy reconciliation and the other proposals we discuss for modifying—but not eliminating—the filibuster would preserve the fundamental principles of American democracy without upending wholesale either the Senate's rules or its traditions. And adopting one or more of them would be only the next step in the filibuster's more-than-two-century journey. The filibuster has always been a tool. It evolved from one characterized by epic floor speeches and endurance contests to the present iteration that has imposed regular shutdowns of Congressional business, with precious little fanfare.¹¹⁵ One benefit the contemporary filibuster confers upon its patrons is that it exacts no cost; not only does invoking cloture require no effort or action, but the fact that such invocations have become part and parcel of everyday Senate procedure means that there is no public attention to, and no opprobrium resulting from, any individual senator's decision to block legislation.

Reform would help move the filibuster back towards being a tool in a functioning deliberative body. It would end the antidemocratic blockade that has bottled up necessary reforms to our voting laws, our elections, and our democracy. By doing so, it would allow our laws to catch up to the political tactics, the social media environment, the court decisions, and the practical realities that have altered the practice of American democracy—many without any congressional response for far too long, if ever. Realigning our laws with current political practices will restore health to our democratic processes and promote public confidence in both our elections themselves and the ability of our federal government to respond

The worst-case scenario is not a hypothetical future abuse of democracy reconciliation but a failure to act now. American democracy is at a point of inflection. to changing circumstances. Better, fairer elections may also yield different results, ensuring that our representative government more accurately represents the will of the people. That is an invaluable end in itself; it may also yield a Senate in which the filibuster would be a less effective tool to evade debate on the topics to which it would still apply.

The worst-case scenario is not a hypothetical future abuse of democracy reconciliation but a failure to act now. American democracy is at a point of inflection. Absent federal legislation,¹¹⁶ some states and municipalities will further restrict the rights and opportunities for voters to participate in American democracy. This is not alarmist rhetoric: We have seen these restrictions metastasize since the Supreme Court struck down large portions of the Voting Rights Act in *Shelby County v. Holder*, 570 U.S. 529

(2013),¹¹⁷ and now it has further curtailed surviving provisions of that law in *Brnovich v. Democratic National Committee*, 594 U. S. ____ (2021).¹¹⁸ We have seen over the past year a sustained, consistent, baseless attack on the integrity of our elections, leading to an unprecedented armed attempt to seize the U.S. Capitol and disrupt the peaceful transfer of presidential power. And in the months since that insurrection, we have seen literally hundreds of proposals introduced in state legislatures around the country to make it harder for eligible voters to cast their ballots and have their voices heard.¹¹⁹

Worse yet, this is a redistricting year. In the absence of a federal legislative solution, gerrymandered state legislatures across the country will likely take all possible steps to perpetuate their own power.¹²⁰ These steps include last-gasp passage of unprecedented restrictions of voting rights, as well as a no-holds-barred effort, in state legislatures and courtrooms alike, to enact new, extreme gerrymanders that ensure that those wielding power do not meaningfully reflect the will of the voters.

These present efforts are antithetical to American democracy. Neither any individual politician nor any political party should be able to cling to power without winning the contest of ideas and building an electoral coalition that attracts majority support. But there is a clear trend nationally to invert this most basic understanding of democracy; to change the ground rules of our electoral system to obviate any need to build winning coalitions; to exclude voters, limit voting opportunities, and enhance opportunities for partisan and racial gerrymanders; and otherwise to reject the fundamental premises of American democracy.

The last four years are instructive on how much our institutions—no matter how enduring they may seem—can be tested, and eroded, in a short period of time. Filibuster reform may not be the ultimate solution to some of the challenges facing the Senate, but it is a necessary step; without it, further debate over the alternatives may be meaningless. The filibuster cannot be more sacred or important than our government itself. Whether through some combination of the reforms described here or otherwise, reforming the filibuster is not an act of escalation. To the contrary, without reform, the Senate will, by choosing inaction, endanger American democracy. An overly broad application of the filibuster, a tool adapted to support the Jim Crow era and weapon-

The last four years are instructive on how much our institutions—no matter how enduring they may seem—can be tested, and eroded, in a short period of time. Filibuster reform may not be the ultimate solution to some of the challenges facing the Senate, but it is a necessary step. The filibuster cannot be more sacred or important than our government itself.

ized to distort the Senate's function, cannot be the reason that we risk more seriously than we have since the Civil War, the prospect that American democracy shall perish from the Earth.

As we read the mounting political pressure created by antidemocracy overreach around the country, some change is very likely coming to the filibuster. Institutionalists should pick their path now, before is too late.

About the Authors

Mel Barnes is staff counsel at Law Forward, a nonprofit law firm focused on advancing and protecting democracy in Wisconsin. Currently, her work is focused on election administration and voting rights, as well as the state redistricting process. Ms. Barnes joined Law Forward from Planned Parenthood of Wisconsin, where she was the director of Legal Advocacy & Policy, leading litigation, lobbying, and grassroots initiatives to advance access to health care across the state. In that role, she oversaw development of a groundbreaking case challenging the constitutionality of three Wisconsin laws restricting access to reproductive healthcare. Ms. Barnes graduated with honors from the University of Wisconsin Law School, where she worked with the Wisconsin Innocence Project.

Ambassador Norman Eisen (ret.) is a senior fellow in Governance Studies at Brookings. He served as special counsel to the House Judiciary Committee from 2019 to 2020, including for the impeachment and trial of President Trump. In 2020, he published a book about his service, *A Case for the American People: The United States v. Donald J. Trump.* Eisen's other books include *The Last Palace* (Crown 2018) and *Democracy's Defenders* (Brookings Institution Press 2020). At Brookings, Eisen has authored reports on a wide range of topics, including "The Emoluments Clause," "Presidential Obstruction of Justice," and "The Democracy Playbook." Eisen served as the U.S. Ambassador to the Czech Republic from 2011 to 2014. From 2009 to 2011, Eisen worked in the White House as special counsel and special assistant to the president for ethics and government reform. Eisen received his JD from Harvard Law School in 1991 and his BA from Brown University in 1985, both with honors.

Jeffrey A. Mandell is the founder, president, and lead counsel of Law Forward, a nonprofit law firm focused on advancing and protecting democracy in Wisconsin. He is also a partner at Stafford Rosenbaum LLP, where he co-chairs the firm's appellate law practice and its election and political law practice. Jeff graduated from the University of Chicago Law School and served as a law clerk to the Honorable A. Raymond Randolph on the U.S. Court of Appeals for the D.C. Circuit. Before moving to Madison, Wisconsin, he practiced at Bartlit Beck Herman Palenchar & Scott LLP in Chicago and Jones Day in Washington, DC.

Norman Ornstein is an emeritus scholar at the American Enterprise Institute. He is a contributing editor and writer for The Atlantic and has been an election eve analyst for CBS News and BBC News. He is also Chairman of the Board of the Campaign Legal Center. He was elected as a fellow of the American Academy of Arts and Sciences in 2004. His many books include The New York Times bestseller, *It's Even Worse Than It Looks* with Tom Mann and *One Nation After Trump: A Guide for the Perplexed, the Disillusioned, the Desperate and the Not-Yet-Deported* (2017) with EJ Dionne and Tom Mann, which was immediately on the *New York Times* and *Washington Post* bestseller lists. Ornstein has a BA from the University of Minnesota and an MA and PhD from the University of Michigan.

Acknowledgments

The authors of this report would like to thank several individuals for their invaluable assistance in its research and production. Catherine Conrow was a research assistant in the Governance Studies program at Brookings. Elias Kaul, Ishita Krishan, Rakhi Kundra, and Luis Neuner were interns in the Governance Studies program at Brookings.

The Brookings Institution is a nonprofit organization devoted to independent research and policy solutions. Its mission is to conduct high-quality, independent research and, based on that research, to provide innovative, practical recommendations for policymakers and the public. The conclusions and recommendations of any Brookings publication are solely those of its authors, and do not reflect the views of the Institution, its management, or its other scholars.

References

- Protect Democracy, States United Democracy Center, and Law Forward, "Democracy Crisis Report Update: New Data and Trends Show the Warning Signs Have Intensified in the Last Two Months," States United Democracy Center, June 10, 2021, https://statesuniteddemocracy.org/wp-content/uploads/2021/06/Democracy-Crisis-Part-II_June-10_Final_v7.pdf; Protect Democracy, States United Democracy Center, and Law Forward, "A Democracy Crisis in the Making," States United Democracy Center, April 22, 2021, https://statesuniteddemocracy.org/wp-content/uploads/2021/04/FINAL-Democracy-Crisis-Report-April-21.pdf.
- 2 Michael Collins and Rebecca Morin, "Have you no shame?': Biden against efforts in GOP-led states to restrict voting rights," USA Today, July 14, 2021, <u>https://www.usatoday.com/story/news/politics/2021/07/13/ voting-rights-biden-warn-right-vote-under-assault/7936086002/.</u>
- 3 "The Impact of H.R. 1 & S.1 on Voting: An Analysis of Key States," States United Democracy Center, May 6, 2021, https://statesuniteddemocracy.org/wp-content/uploads/2021/05/HR1Report_UPDATED_5.06.21_800PM.pdf; "The Impact of H.R. 1 & S.1 on Voting: An Analysis of Key States," States United Democracy Center, March 23, 2021; Norman Eisen and Joanna Lydgate, "The strongest antidote to voter suppression bills," CNN, April 7, 2021, https://www.cnn.com/2021/04/06/opinions/three-vaccines-protect-voting-rights-eisen-lydgate/index.html. Consistent with Brookings policy, this paper takes no position on any particular bill.
- 4 Nicholas Fandos, "Democrats Unite Behind Voting Rights Bill as It Faces a Senate Roadblock," *The New York Times*, June 21, 2021, <u>https://www.nytimes.com/2021/06/21/us/politics/senate-voting-rights-bill.html</u>.
- 5 "About Filibusters and Cloture," U.S. Senate, <u>https://www.senate.gov/about/powers-procedures/filibusters-clo-</u> <u>ture/overview.htm</u>.
- 6 Jacob Pramuk, "Senate Republicans block Democrats' sweeping voting, ethics bill," *CNBC*, June 22, 2021, https://www.cnbc.com/2021/06/22/senate-to-vote-on-s1-for-the-people-act-bill.html.
- 7 "Votes to Break Ties in the Senate," U.S. Senate, <u>https://www.senate.gov/legislative/TieVotes.</u> <u>htm#:~:text=%22The%20Vice%20President%20of%20the,breaking%20votes%20have%20been%20cast.</u>
- 8 Joe Manchin and Lisa Murkowski to Nancy Pelosi, Charles Schumer, Kevin McCarthy and Mitch McConnell, May 17, 2021, <u>https://www.manchin.senate.gov/imo/media/doc/210517%20Bipartisan%20Voting%20Rights%20</u> <u>Act%20Reauthorization%20Letter.pdf?cb</u>.
- 9 Joe Manchin, "Joe Manchin: Why I'm voting against the For the People Act," Charleston Gazette-Mail, June 6, 2021, https://www.wvgazettemail.com/opinion/op_ed_commentaries/joe-manchin-why-im-voting-against-the-for-thepeople-act/article_c7eb2551-a500-5f77-aa37-2e42d0af870f.html.
- 10 Katherine Fung, "Joe Manchin Signals He's Open to Filibuster Reform, Offering Hope to Democrats," *Newsweek*, June 6, 2021, <u>https://www.newsweek.com/</u> joe-manchin-signals-hes-open-filibuster-reform-offering-hope-democrats-1601338.
- 11 Norman Eisen, Richard W. Painter, and Jeffrey Mandell, "The most important exception the Senate can make," *CNN*, March 5, 2021, <u>https://www.cnn.com/2021/03/05/opinions/senate-filibuster-exception-eisen-painter-man-dell/index.html</u>.

12 "Budget Reconciliation: The Basics," *House Committee on the Budget*, U.S. House of Representatives, June 22, 2021, <u>https://budget.house.gov/publications/fact-sheet/budget-reconciliation-basics</u>.

13 Ibid.

- 14 Ian Millhiser, "Biden's plan for a 'talking filibuster,' briefly explained," Vox, March 16, 2021, <u>https://www.vox.com/2021/3/16/22335133/joe-biden-talking-filibuster-reform-senate-joe-manchin-george-stephanopoulos</u>; Lisa Desjardins, "What every Senate Democrat has said about filibuster reform," PBS, June 23, 2021, <u>https://www.pbs.org/newshour/politics/what-every-senate-democrat-has-said-about-filibuster-reform</u>.
- 15 Sarah A. Binder and Steven S. Smith, *Politics or Principle?: Filibustering in the United States Senate* (Washington, D.C.: Brookings Institution Press, 1997), 4, 33.
- 16 Victor Williams, "Madison, Hamilton, and Scalia: Original–Not Nuclear–Option to End Gorsuch Filibuster," *The Hill*, April 6, 2017, <u>https://thehill.com/blogs/congress-blog/ politics/327504-madison-hamilton-and-scalia-original-not-nuclear-option-to-end.</u>
- 17 Walter J. Oleszek, "Super-Majority Votes in the Senate," *Congressional Research Service*, May 19, 2008, https://fas.org/sgp/crs/misc/98-779.pdf.
- 18 Judy Schneider, "Minority Rights and Senate Procedures," Congressional Research Service, August 22, 2005, https://fas.org/sgp/crs/misc/RL30850.pdf.
- 19 Alexander Hamilton, Federalist No. 22, *The Federalist Papers*, Available at: <u>https://guides.loc.gov/federalist-papers/text-21-30</u>.
- 20 James Madison, Federalist No. 58, *The Federalist Papers*, Available at: <u>https://guides.loc.gov/federalist-papers/</u> <u>text-21-30#s-lg-box-wrapper-25493335</u>.
- 21 "Senate Created," U.S. Senate, <u>https://www.senate.gov/artandhistory/history/minute/Senate_Created.htm#:~:-</u> text=George%20Washington%20is%20said%20to,used%20to%20cool%20hot%20tea.&text=In%20the%20fall%20 of%201787,had%20been%20created%20at%20all.
- 22 Frances E. Lee and Bruce I. Oppenheimer, *Sizing up the Senate: the Unequal Consequences of Equal Representation* (Chicago: University of Chicago Press, 1999), 28.
- 23 "Origins and Development," U.S. Senate, <u>https://www.senate.gov/artandhistory/history/common/briefing/</u> Origins_Development.htm.
- 24 "The Senate and the United States Constitution," U.S. Senate, <u>https://www.senate.gov/artandhistory/history/</u> <u>common/briefing/Constitution_Senate.htm</u>.
- 25 Ibid.
- 26 Alexander Hamilton, Federalist No. 22, The Federalist Papers, Available at: https://guides.loc.gov/federal-ist-papers/text-21-30. See also: Hendrik Herzberg, "Alexander Hamilton Speaks Out (III): Two Senators Per State, Regardless of Population?" The New Yorker, January 8, 2011, https://www.newyorker.com/news/hendrik-hertzberg/alexander-hamilton-speaks-out-iii-two-senators-per-state-regardless-of-population.

- 27 Adam Jentleson, Kill Switch: The Rise of the Modern Senate and the Crippling of American Democracy (W.W. Norton & Co Inc: 2021), 6; see also "James Madison to [Edward Everett], 28 August 1830," Founders Online, National Archives, <u>https://founders.archives.gov/documents/Madison/99-02-02-2138</u>; Sarah A. Binder and Steven S. Smith, *Politics or Principle?: Filibustering in the United States Senate* (Washington, D.C.: Brookings Institution Press, 1997), 4, 33.
- 28 Sarah A. Binder, "The History of the Filibuster," The Brookings Institution, April 22, 2010, <u>https://www.brookings.edu/testimonies/the-history-of-the-filibuster/</u>.
- 29 Ibid.
- 30 Franklin L. Burdette, *Filibustering in the Senate* (Princeton, NY: Princeton University Press, 1940), 20. Burdette outlines the preparations Jacksonian Senators made for a long night of continuous session, including laying in a supply of "cold hams, turkeys, beef, pickles, wines and cups of hot coffee[]" and speeches by opponents lasting until near midnight. See also Thomas H. Benton, *Thirty Years' View* (New York, NY: D. Appleton, 1854), 727.
- 31 Gail Russel Chaddock, "The filibuster—a debate that has never ended," Christian Science Monitor, May 5, 2005, https://www.csmonitor.com/2005/0505/p01s02-uspo.html. See also Sarah Binder, "Mitch McConnell is wrong. Here's the filibuster's 'racial history," The Washington Post, March 24, 2021, https://www.washingtonpost.com/ politics/2021/03/24/mitch-mcconnell-is-wrong-heres-filibusters-racial-history/.
- 32 Benjamin Wallace-Wells, "Examining The Case Against The Filibuster," *The New Yorker*, February 4, 2021, https://www.newyorker.com/news/our-columnists/examining-the-case-against-the-filibuster.
- 33 Tony Madonna, "Senate Rules and Procedure: Revisiting the Bank Bill of 1841 and the Development of Senate Obstruction," in *New Directions in Congressional Politics*, ed. Jamie L. Carson (New York: Routledge, 2011).
- 34 Ibid.
- 35 Ibid.
- 36 Ibid.
- 37 Ibid.
- 38 Sarah A. Binder and Steven S. Smith, Politics or Principle?: Filibustering in the United States Senate (Washington, D.C.: Brookings Institution Press, 1997), 161-195.
- 39 Benjamin Wallace-Wells, "Examining The Case Against The Filibuster," *The New Yorker*, February 4, 2021, https://www.newyorker.com/news/our-columnists/examining-the-case-against-the-filibuster.
- 40 "About Filibusters and Cloture," U.S. Senate, <u>https://www.senate.gov/about/powers-procedures/filibusters-clo-</u> <u>ture/overview.htm</u>.
- 41 Mara Liasson, "Why Possibly Changing The Filibuster Brings Threats of Political 'Nuclear' War," *NPR*, March 29, 2021, <u>https://www.npr.org/2021/03/29/981364153/</u> why-possibly-changing-the-filibuster-brings-threats-of-political-nuclear-war.
- 42 Caroline Fredrickson, "The Case Against the Filibuster," *Brennan Center for Justice*, October 30, 2020, https://www.brennancenter.org/our-work/research-reports/case-against-filibuster.

- 43 Benjamin Wallace-Wells, "Examining The Case Against The Filibuster," *The New Yorker*, February 4, 2021, https://www.newyorker.com/news/our-columnists/examining-the-case-against-the-filibuster.
- 44 Gillian Brockell, "Note to Mitch McConnell: The Senate's longest filibuster was definitely racist," *The Washington Post*, March 26, 2021, <u>https://www.washingtonpost.com/history/2021/03/26/</u> <u>thurmond-filibuster-senate-mcconnell/</u>.
- 45 Changes to the Senate rules still require a two-thirds majority to invoke cloture and end debate. Once cloture is invoked, only a simple majority is required to agree to the resolution changing the rule. See: Molly Reynolds, "What is the Senate Filibuster, and what would it take to eliminate it?" *The Brookings Institution*, September 9, 2020, <u>https://www.brookings.edu/policy2020/votervital/</u> what-is-the-senate-filibuster-and-what-would-it-take-to-eliminate-it/.
- 46 Molly Reynolds, "What is the Senate Filibuster, and what would it take to eliminate it?" The Brookings Institution, September 9, 2020, <u>https://www.brookings.edu/policy2020/votervital/</u> what-is-the-senate-filibuster-and-what-would-it-take-to-eliminate-it/.
- 47 James Fallows, "How the Modern Faux-Filibuster Came to Be," *The Atlantic*, April 2, 2012, <u>https://www.theatlantic.</u> <u>com/politics/archive/2012/04/how-the-modern-faux-filibuster-came-to-be/255374/</u>.
- 48 Molly Reynolds, "What is the Senate Filibuster, and what would it take to eliminate it?" The Brookings Institution, September 9, 2020, <u>https://www.brookings.edu/policy2020/votervital/</u> what-is-the-senate-filibuster-and-what-would-it-take-to-eliminate-it/.
- 49 Ibid.
- 50 Molly E. Reynolds, "Exceptions to the Rule: The Politics of Filibuster Limitations in the U.S. Senate," Brookings Institution Press, 2017; see also "Budget Reconciliation: The Basics," House Committee on the Budget, U.S. House of Representatives, June 22, 2021, <u>https://budget.house.gov/sites/democrats.budget.house.gov/files/ documents/Budget%20Reconciliation%20-%20The%20Basics%20Final%20June%202021.pdf</u>.
- 51 Molly Reynolds, "What is the Senate Filibuster, and what would it take to eliminate it?" The Brookings Institution, September 9, 2020, <u>https://www.brookings.edu/policy2020/votervital/</u> what-is-the-senate-filibuster-and-what-would-it-take-to-eliminate-it/.
- 52 Bridget C. E. Dooling, Daniel Pérez, and Steven J. Balla, "Where are the Congressional Review Act Disapprovals?" *The Brookings Institution*, March 24, 2021, <u>https://www.brookings.edu/research/where-are-the-congressional-review-act-disapprovals/</u>.
- 53 Mark Strand and Tim Lang, "The U.S. Senate Filibuster: Options for Reform," *Congressional Institute*, September 25, 2017, <u>https://www.congressionalinstitute.org/2017/09/25/the-u-s-senate-filibuster-options-for-reform/</u>.
- 54 Ibid. See also, "Senate Floor Activity Thursday, November 21, 2013," U.S. Senate, <u>https://www.senate.gov/legisla-tive/LIS/floor_activity/2013/11_21_2013_Senate_Floor.htm</u>.
- 55 Tim Lau, "The Filibuster, Explained," *Brennan Center for Justice*, April 26, 2021, <u>https://www.brennancenter.org/our-work/research-reports/filibuster-explained</u>.

- 56 "Comparable" here denotes a President of the same political party as the Majority, presumably willing to sign legislation that passed, maximizing the need for the filibuster as a defeat tactic). Steven Waldman, "Learning to Love the Nuclear Option," *The New York Times*, April 5, 2017, <u>https://www.nytimes.com/2017/04/05/opinion/</u> <u>filibusters-arent-the-problem.html</u>; *See also*: "Cloture Motions," U.S. Senate, <u>https://www.senate.gov/legislative/ cloture/clotureCounts.htm.</u>
- 57 Ibid.
- 58 Glenn Kessler, "When did Mitch McConnell say he wanted to make Obama a one-term president?" *The Washington Post*, January 11, 2017, <u>https://www.washingtonpost.com/news/fact-checker/wp/2017/01/11/</u> when-did-mitch-mcconnell-say-he-wanted-to-make-obama-a-one-term-president/.
- 59 "Cloture Motions," U.S. Senate, https://www.senate.gov/legislative/cloture/clotureCounts.htm.
- 60 Sarah A. Binder, "Polarized We Govern?," Center for Effective Public Management at Brookings, May 27, 2014, https://www.brookings.edu/research/polarized-we-govern/.
- 61 James Wallner, "Mitch McConnell said the 115th Congress was 'the best,' but it's more dysfunctional than ever," *LegBranch*, February 4, 2019, <u>https://www.legbranch.org/</u> mitch-mcconnell-said-the-115th-congress-was-the-best-but-its-more-dysfunctional-than-ever/.
- 62 Alissa Wilkinson, "Mr. Smith Goes to Washington has become synonymous with the filibuster—for good reason," *Vox*, April 8, 2017, <u>https://www.vox.com/culture/2017/4/8/15168072/mr-smith-goes-to-washington-filibuster</u>.
- 63 Gillian Brockell, "Note to Mitch McConnell: The Senate's longest filibuster was definitely racist," *The Washington Post*, March 26, 2021, <u>https://www.washingtonpost.com/history/2021/03/26/</u> <u>thurmond-filibuster-senate-mcconnell/</u>.
- 64 Tom Dart, "Wendy Davis's remarkable filibuster to deny passage of abortion bill," *The Guardian*, June 26, 2013, https://www.theguardian.com/world/2013/jun/26/texas-senator-wendy-davis-abortion-bill-speech.
- 65 Ryan Grim, "Jeff Merkley Circulates 'Talking Filibuster' Reform Proposal," *The Huffington Post*, updated December 6, 2017, <u>https://www.huffpost.com/entry/jeff-merkley-filibuster-reform_n_2287831</u>.
- 66 John J. Monahan, "Warren joins push to tame the filibuster," *Telegram.com*, November 15, 2012, https://www.telegram.com/article/20121115/NEWS/121119715.
- 67 Zack Budryk, "Manchin firm on support for filibuster, mulls making it 'a little bit more painful' to use," *The Hill*, March 7, 2021, <u>https://thehill.com/homenews/sunday-talk-shows/541993-manchin-unmoved-on-filibuster-keepsdoor-cracked-open-on</u>; Aaron Blake, "The talking filibuster – and its limits," *The Washington Post*, March 17, 2021, <u>https://www.washingtonpost.com/politics/2021/03/09/most-likely-filibuster-reform-its-limits/</u>.
- 68 Aaron Blake, "The talking filibuster and its limits," *The Washington Post*, March 17, 2021, <u>https://www.washing-tonpost.com/politics/2021/03/09/most-likely-filibuster-reform-its-limits/</u>.
- 69 Richard Fox and John M. Parrish, "A 'talking filibuster' would be better than what the Senate has now," Orange County Register, February 9, 2021, <u>https://www.ocregister.</u> <u>com/2021/02/09/a-talking-filibuster-would-be-better-than-what-the-senate-has-now/.</u>

- 70 Ibid. The following second point is also based on this source.
- 71 See Robert A. Caro, Master of the Senate: The Years of Lyndon Johnson III (New York, NY: Vintage Books, 2003), loc. 21083, 22398, Kindle.
- 72 Henry Olsen, "A talking filibuster will not help Democrats as much as some might think," *The Washington Post*, March 17, 2021, <u>https://www.washingtonpost.com/opinions/2021/03/17/</u> <u>talking-filibuster-will-not-help-democrats-much-some-might-think/</u>.
- 73 Jonathan Bernstein (@jbview), Tweet from March 7, 2021, 3:20 PM, <u>https://twitter.com/jbview/</u> status/1368657785085378562.
- 74 Norman Ornstein, "The Smart Way to Fix the Filibuster," The Atlantic, September 3, 2020, <u>https://www.theatlantic.com/ideas/archive/2020/09/fix-filibuster/615961/</u>; Al Franken and Norman Ornstein, "Make the Filibuster Great Again," Star Tribune, February 7, 2021, <u>https://www.startribune.com/make-the-filibuster-great-again/600020321/</u>.
- 75 Ibid.
- 76 Dan McLaughlin, "Neutering the Filibuster Is Just as Bad as Killing It," *National Review*, September 8, 2020, https://www.nationalreview.com/2020/09/neutering-the-filibuster-is-just-as-bad-as-killing-it/.
- 77 Norman Ornstein, "The Smart Way to Fix the Filibuster," *The Atlantic*, September 3, 2020, <u>https://www.theatlantic.</u> <u>com/ideas/archive/2020/09/fix-filibuster/615961/</u>.
- 78 Richard L. Hasen, "Why Washington Can't Be Fixed." *Slate*, May 9, 2012, <u>https://slate.com/news-and-poli-tics/2012/05/thomas-mann-and-norman-ornsteins-ideas-wont-solve-washingtons-gridlock.html.</u>
- 79 Benjamin Eidelson, "The Majoritarian Filibuster," Yale Law Journal 122, no. 4 (2013): 1019, https://digitalcommons.law.yale.edu/cgi/viewcontent.cgi?article=5549&context=ylj.
- 80 Mark Strand and Tim Lang, "The U.S. Senate Filibuster: Options for Reform," *Congressional Institute*, September 25, 2017, <u>https://www.congressionalinstitute.org/2017/09/25/the-u-s-senate-filibuster-options-for-reform/</u>.
- 81 U.S. Congress, Senate, A Resolution Amending the Standing Rules of the Senate to Provide for Cloture to Be Invoked with Less Than a Three-Fifths Majority After Additional Debate, S.Res 5, 113th Cong., introduced in Senate January 3, 2013, <u>https://www.congress.gov/bill/113th-congress/senate-resolution/5</u>.
- 82 Benjamin Eidelson, "The Majoritarian Filibuster," Yale Law Journal 122, no. 4 (2013): 1019, https://digitalcommons.law.yale.edu/cgi/viewcontent.cgi?article=5549&context=ylj; Another reform recently proposed by a former longtime Senate staff member would allow the minority to advance relevant amendments to "major bills" within a set period of debate. If no amendment received bipartisan support within this window, cloture could be invoked through a simple majority vote. See Jeff Blattner, "A filibuster reform that could lead to more compromise and less obstruction," The Washington Post, July 27, 2021, https://www.washingtonpost.com/opinions/2021/07/27/ theres-better-way-reform-filibuster-heres-how-it-would-work/.
- 83 Ezra Klein, "End the filibuster! An interview with Sen. Tom Harkin," *The Washington Post*, December 26, 2009, <u>http://voices.washingtonpost.com/ezra-klein/2009/12/end_the_filibuster_an_intervie.html</u>; Meredith Shiner, "Harkin's crusade to end the filibuster," *Politico*, February 11, 2010, <u>https://www.politico.com/story/2010/02/</u> <u>harkins-crusade-to-end-the-filibuster-032853</u>.

- 84 Meredith Shiner, "Harkin's crusade to end the filibuster," *Politico*, February 11, 2010, <u>https://www.politico.com/</u> story/2010/02/harkins-crusade-to-end-the-filibuster-032853.
- 85 Ezra Klein, "End the filibuster! An interview with Sen. Tom Harkin," *The Washington Post*, December 26, 2009, http://voices.washingtonpost.com/ezra-klein/2009/12/end_the_filibuster_an_intervie.html.
- 86 Ibid.
- 87 Mark Strand and Tim Lang, "The U.S. Senate Filibuster: Options for Reform," *Congressional Institute*, September 25, 2017, <u>https://www.congressionalinstitute.org/2017/09/25/the-u-s-senate-filibuster-options-for-reform/</u>.
- 88 Ibid.
- 89 Ibid.
- 90 "About Filibusters and Cloture | Historical Overview," *United States Senate*, <u>https://www.senate.gov/about/pow-ers-procedures/filibusters-cloture/overview.htm</u>.
- 91 Danielle Brian to US Senate, June 17, 2021, Project on Government Oversight, in *A Practical Way Forward on Filibuster Reform*, <u>https://www.pogo.org/letter/2021/06/a-practical-way-forward-on-filibuster-reform/</u>.
- 92 Norman Ornstein, "Democrats can't kill the filibuster. But they can gut it," *The Washington Post*, March 2, 2021, https://www.washingtonpost.com/outlook/2021/03/02/manchin-filibuster-never-sinema/.
- 93 Mark Strand and Tim Lang, "The U.S. Senate Filibuster: Options for Reform," *Congressional Institute*, September 25, 2017, <u>https://www.congressionalinstitute.org/2017/09/25/the-u-s-senate-filibuster-options-for-reform/</u>.
- 94 Jack Holmes, "Joe Manchin Should Check in With 2011 Joe Manchin," *Esquire*, May 27, 2021, <u>https://www.esquire.com/news-politics/a36545745/joe-manchin-senate-filibuster-then-and-now/</u>.
- 95 "Manchin: West Virginians Deserve a Government That Works For Them," Joe Manchin Senate Website, January 27, 2011, <u>https://www.manchin.senate.gov/newsroom/press-releases/</u> manchin-west-virginians-deserve-a-government-that-works-for-them.
- 96 This section is adapted and borrows substantially from "Opinion: The Most Important Exception the Senate Can Make," CNN, March 5, 2021, <u>https://www.cnn.com/2021/03/05/opinions/senate-filibuster-exception-eisen-painter-mandell/index.html</u>.
- 97 "The Budget Reconciliation Process: The Senate's 'Byrd Rule'," *Congressional Research Service*, May 4, 2021, https://fas.org/sgp/crs/misc/RL30862.pdf.
- 98 Ibid; We use "reconciliation" loosely when describing the process we term democracy reconciliation. It differs from budget reconciliation in numerous regards, except from the most important one of all: voting measures would no longer require 60 votes to advance. We do note, however, that budget reconciliation is procedurally distinct in that it subjects relevant proposals to a limit on debate, thus obviating the need for a successful cloture vote. See 2 U.S.C. § 641(e)(2).
- 99 Laura Barrón-López, "Top Biden ally pleads with him to scrap filibuster for election reform," *Politico*, July 10, 2021, <u>https://www.politico.com/news/2021/07/10/clyburn-biden-filibuster-election-reform-499051?n-name=playbook&nid=0000014f-1646-d88f-a1cf-5f46b7bd0000&nrid=00000151-3612-d6a2-a155-ffd2292b0000-&nlid=630318.</u>

- 100 Senator Mark Warner has also suggested that he supports reforming the filibuster so that the Senate can pass voting rights legislation, although he has also said that he regrets that Democrats opened the door to changing the filibuster a decade ago. See Danielle Wallace, "Warner regrets Harry Reid's filibuster change: 'I wish we wouldn't even have started this'," Fox, July 25, 2021, <u>https://www.foxnews.com/politics/</u>warner-harry-reid-filibuster-change-infrastructure-bill-voting-rights-election-law.
- 101 Ben Kamisar, "Manchin Says He Still Supports Filibuster, but May Back More Party-Line Votes on Key Bills," NBC News, March 7, 2021, <u>https://www.nbcnews.com/politics/meet-the-press/</u> <u>manchin-says-he-still-supports-filibuster-may-back-more-party-n1259902</u>.
- 102 Meet the Press—March 07, 2021, NBC News, https://www.nbcnews.com/meet-the-press/meet-press-march-7-2021-n1259907. The Senator later suggested openness to other modifications to the filibuster from among those discussed in this paper. Among the proposals Manchin said he was open to were those that suggested lowering the cloture threshold and shifting the onus onto the Senate minority to maintain filibuster. When asked about the proposal to lower the threshold to end debate to 55, he said "...that's one of many good, good suggestions I've had....So I'm open to looking at it, I'm just not open to getting rid of the filibuster, that's all....it should be [that] 41 people have to force the issue versus the 60 that we need in the affirmative... anyone who wants to filibuster ought to be required to go to the floor and basically state your objection and why you're filibustering and also state what you think needs to change that'd fix it, so you would support it." See Lee Fang and Ryan Grim, "Joe Manchin Call With Billionaire Donors Offers Rare Glimpse of Dealmaking," *The Intercept*, June 16, 2021, https://theintercept.com/2021/06/16/joe-manchin-leaked-billionaire-donors-no-labels/.

Although less outspoken than Senator Manchin, Senator Kyrsten Sinema has also indicated resistance to *eliminating* the filibuster. A close look at her words makes clear that she would not oppose *modifications*. See Opinion by Kyrsten Sinema, "We have more to lose than gain by ending the filibuster," *The Washington Post*, June 21, 2021, <u>https://www.washingtonpost.com/opinions/2021/06/21/kyrsten-sinema-filibuster-for-the-people-act/</u> ("It is time for the Senate to debate the legislative filibuster, so senators and our constituents can hear and fully consider the concerns and consequences. Hopefully, senators can then focus on crafting policies through open legislative processes and amendments, finding compromises that earn broad support.") Moreover, she ultimately joined Senator Manchin in voting for S.1. and has otherwise been a reliable member of the majority once it makes up its mind. *See* "Kyrsten Sinema's Voting Records," *Vote Smart: Facts Matter*, <u>https://justfacts.votesmart.org/candidate/key-votes/28338/kyrsten-sinema</u>.

- 103 In a March 2021 interview Biden stated, "I don't think that you have to eliminate the filibuster...You have to do to it what it used to be when I first got to the Senate back in the old days...You have to stand up and command the floor, you had to keep talking." Biden later warned that completely eliminating the filibuster would "throw the entire Congress into chaos, and nothing would get done." That does not rule out lesser modifications. See Benjamin Din, "Biden open to bringing back talking filibuster," *Politico*, March 16, 2021, <u>https://www.politico.com/news/2021/03/16/biden-talking-filibuster-senate-476559</u>; Max Cohen, "Biden signals openness to eliminating Senate filibuster," *Politico*, July 14, 2020, <u>https://www.politico.com/news/2020/07/14/joe-biden-2020-filibus-ter-360587</u>; Kathryn Watson and Caroline Linton, "Biden says eliminating the filibuster, calling it a "Jim Crow relic." *See Max Cohen*, "Obama calls for end of 'Jim Crow relic' filibuster if it blocks voting reforms," *Politico*, July 30, 2020, <u>https://www.politico.com/news/2020/07/30/barack-obama-john-lewis-filibuster-388600</u>.
- 104 "Annotated Guide to the For the People Act of 2021," *Brennan Center for Justice*, July 16, 2021, <u>https://www.brennancenter.org/our-work/policy-solutions/annotated-guide-people-act-2021</u>.

- 105 Michael Sozan, "Momentum Grows for Bold Democracy Reform," *Center for American Progress*, February 10, 2021, <u>https://www.americanprogress.org/issues/democracy/reports/2021/02/10/495607/</u> momentum-grows-bold-democracy-reform/.
- 106 Brian Klaas, "The World Is Horrified by the Dysfunction of American Democracy," *The Washington Post*, June 11, 2021, <u>https://www.washingtonpost.com/opinions/2021/06/11/pew-research-global-opinion-us-democracy/</u>.
- 107 Ezra Klein, "The Rest of the World Is Worried About America," *The New York Times*, July 1, 2021, https://www.nytimes.com/2021/07/01/opinion/us-democracy-erosion.html.
- 108 This figure was obtained by dividing the aggregate population of the 21 least populous states by the total population of the United States (including Washington, D.C., and Puerto Rico). The 42 senators from these states, representing about 11% of the United States' population, could currently prevent a bill from coming to a vote. World Population Review, "U.S. States Ranked by Population 2021," Accessed July 12, 2021, <u>https://worldpopulationreview.com/states</u>.
- 109 See Senate Rule 20; 2 U.S. Code § 644.
- 110 Erwin Chemerinsky and Burt Neuborne, "Harris should rule that the filibuster is unconstitutional," Los Angeles Times, March 22, 2021, <u>https://www.latimes.com/opinion/story/2021-03-22/</u> kamala-harris-filibuster-unconstitutional.
- 111 Jack Rakove, "The filibuster may not even be constitutional the way it's used now," *The Washington Post*, February 8, 2021, <u>https://www.washingtonpost.com/outlook/2021/02/08/filibuster-constitution-madison</u>.
- 112 John C. Capretta, "An abbreviated history of budget reconciliation," *Washington State Wire*, February 2, 2021, https://washingtonstatewire.com/an-abbreviated-history-of-budget-reconciliation/.
- 113 "Unfunded Mandates Reform Act: History, Impact, and Issues," *Congressional Research Service*, July 17, 2020, https://fas.org/sgp/crs/misc/R40957.pdf.
- 114 See Shelby County v. Holder, 570 U.S. 529 (2013).
- 115 Jack Rakove, "Perspective: The Filibuster May Not Even Be Constitutional the Way It's Used Now," *The Washington Post*, February 8, 2021, <u>https://www.washingtonpost.com/outlook/2021/02/08/filibuster-constitution-madison/</u>.
- 116 Consistent with Brookings policy, this paper takes no position on any particular bill.
- 117 Shelby County v. Holder, 570 U.S. 529 (2013).
- 118 Brnovich v. Democratic National Committee, 594 U. S. ____ (2021).
- 119 Amy Gardner, Kate Rabinowitz, and Harry Stevens, "How GOP-Backed Voting Measures Could Create Hurdles for Tens of Millions of Voters," *The Washington Post*, March 11, 2021, <u>https://www.washingtonpost.com/politics/</u> interactive/2021/voting-restrictions-republicans-states/.
- 120 Wendy R. Weiser, Daniel I. Weiner, and Dominique Erney, "Congress Must Pass the 'For the People Act'," Brennan Center for Justice, July 1, 2021, <u>https://www.brennancenter.org/our-work/policy-solutions/</u> <u>congress-must-pass-people-act</u>.



B Governance Studies

The Brookings Institution 1775 Massachusetts Ave., NW Washington, D.C. 20036 Brookings.edu